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Message from the Editor 
 

 As a follow up to the last edition, Will Reaves 

has written a new article about Grover C. Graham, 

who was the commander at Camp Robinson 

during WWII. Graham’s family donated a second 

scrapbook that covers his earlier military career 

before he came to Camp Robinson in the late 

1930s. COL Graham’s military career began when 

he enlisted in the Army from Arkansas during the 

first decade of the 20th century. Reaves looks at 

Graham’s time in the Philippines when he was a 

young, raw private. Reaves also analyses the 

photographs from the Philippines Private Graham 

included in his scrapbook.  

 In his featured artifact article, COL Matthew 

Anderson provides insight about the Caliber .45, 

M3A1, also known as the Grease Gun.  The 

Arkansas National Guard has one on display.  In 

addition, this issue of the Arkansas Military History 

Journal includes several photos of soldiers training 

on the ranges during WWII.  Although these 

photos do not show training with the M3A1, they 

still provide a glimpse of firearm training at Camp 

Robinson as young men prepared for combat.    
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Featured Artifact: U.S. Submachine Gun, Caliber .45, M3A1 

By Colonel Matthew W. Anderson 

 
With the War spreading rapidly in Europe and Asia in 1940, the US Army Ordnance Department 
took note of the advances in manufacturing and weapons technology in other nations. They 
began the process to evaluate American arms to determine what could be done to ensure 
America could rapidly and efficiently meet the production demands necessary to achieve victory 
in the coming world war. 

One category of weapons that were being used to great effect was the submachine gun. Germany 
had developed the MP38 which was a compact folding stock automatic, firing 9mm pistol 
ammunition from a 30 round detachable box magazine. It had milled parts and was superseded 
by the MP40, which was produced with a combination of stamped and milled parts that reduced 
cost and increased the speed of production. The British developed their own submachine gun 
called the STEN and with the STEN Mark III was able to mass produce an even cheaper 
predominantly stamped metal weapon with only the bolt and barrel being milled without 
sacrificing reliability and accuracy. America had its own submachine developed at the end of 
WWI the iconic, accurate and reliable M1928 Thompson SMG. In the short term, the Thompson 
SMG would be refined as much as possible to reduce cost and production time with the 
development of the M1 and M1A1 variants, but it was clear that the there were limits in what 
could be done.  

The Ordnance Department, Chief of Small Arms Research and Development, Colonel Rene R. 
Studler, received a directive to proceed with the development of an improved submachine gun. 
Several submachine guns from various nations were acquired for test and evaluation to include 
the German MP40, British STEN and the Australian Owen Carbine. These were compared to the 
Thompson SMG and results were used to develop a requirements list which was published on 6 
February 1941. The criteria were for it to be sturdy, inexpensive, rapidly manufactured, easily 
disassembled for cleaning, could not use critical wartime materials, chambered for .45 cal 
ammunition, cyclic rate of fire not to exceed 500 rounds per minute, able to select either semi-
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auto or full auto and finally hit a six foot square target 90 out of 100 times when fired from the 
standing position at 50 yards. 

George J. Hyde was selected to design a weapon that would meet specifications then collaborate 
with Frederick W. Sampson, Chief Engineer, Inland Division of General Motors Corporation to 
incorporate design refinements that would simplify manufacturing processes and speed up 
production. 

The first prototype was the T15. This was further refined and simplified when it was determined 
that select fire was not necessary since the slow rate of fire would allow an operator to fire single 
shot from the full auto position with some practice. The auto only prototype was the T20. 

Except for the bolt and barrel which were required to be milled, all other parts were pressed or 
stamped from sheet metal. Spot welding was used to assemble the frame/receiver/pistol grip 
together giving it a cheap, crude appearance. With the stock extended it measured 29.8 inches 
and with the wire stock stored it was a compact 22.8 inches. Empty it weighed 8.2 lbs. With a 
30-round magazine it weighed 9.9 lbs. Rate of fire 450 rounds per minute. Sights were fixed at 
100 yards. The bolt was a solid block of steel with a fixed firing pin milled into the face. The bolt 
travelled fore and aft on two guide rods with springs allowing the bolt to move freely without 
touching the stamped metal sides. This reduced friction/heat and allowed it to continue to 
function even when dirty. The M3 operated from the open bolt and was put on safe by simply 
closing the dust cover. 

In November 1942, service trials under simulated combat conditions were conducted on five 
T20s at Aberdeen Proving Grounds with representatives from the Infantry Board, Airborne 
Command, and the Armored Forces Board evaluating the performance. The results were very 
positive, which prompted the Ordnance Department to recommend adoption as the U.S. 
Submachine Gun, Caliber .45, M3 on 24 December 1942. 

On 11 January 1943, the M3 was officially approved, and a contract was awarded to Guide Lamp 
Division of General Motors Corporation of Anderson, Indiana for 300,000 units. Guide Lamp 
normally produced headlights for vehicles. however, wartime production required manufacturers 
to retool as needed to produce arms. Guide Lamp had just concluded the manufacture of one 
million FP-45 Liberator Pistols that were delivered to resistance forces around the world. They 
now used their experience to produce the M3. 

By May 1943, the first M3s began to come off the production line. However, the first 20,000 
were rejected by inspectors when it was discovered that there were warped and misaligned 
frames/receivers due to spot welders applying too much heat during the assembly of the stamped 
metal parts. Even so, by the end of 1943, 85,130 M3s were delivered. Cost of an M3 came to 
$20.94, which was less than half the cost of an M1A1 Thompson SMG at $45.00 each. This 
resulted in the War Department considering the M3 as a disposable weapon which meant that 
there would not be additional orders for parts to repair and maintain the M3s in inventory as was 
done with other arms. In theory, if an M3 became unserviceable it would simply be turned in and 
went through the disposal process and a new one would be issued.  
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The first M3s were delivered to the 82nd and 101st Airborne Divisions in time for Operation 
OVERLORD the invasion of Normandy on 6 June 1944. After action reports on the M3 were 
mixed with some still preferring the hefty, durable, and reliable Thompson SMG while others 
commenting positively about the M3s light weight, and compact size, which allowed it to be 
stowed on the person to be readily available to put into operation even before getting on the 
ground if necessary. Issues began to be reported up when the crank type charging handle was 
found to be poorly constructed and would break off if dropped or banged hard rendering it 
impossible to load the weapon. Another issue was that the magazine was found to be difficult to 
load a full 30 rounds especially in the cold and tended to jam when a small amount of dirt found 
its way inside. Finally, the magazine release was too loose, allowing the magazine to fall out at 
times. 

Despite the guidance to turn in and replace unserviceable weapons, there was often not a ready 
supply of replacements, so Ordnance units improvised to keep them running by welding on 
better charging handles. For the magazine release, a ball peen hammer was rapped against the 
release to reduce the clearance and gain a firm fitting. The Ordnance Department took note of 
these issues and rapidly fielded a magazine loading tool and plastic protective covers to address 
the magazine issues.  

By mid-1944, stateside Army and Marine units training for combat began to receive and train 
with the new M3. It continued to receive mixed reviews. During this time the M3 also began to 
be called by many names but the one that stuck was “The Grease Gun” since it looked somewhat 
like the grease gun tools commonly used on military vehicles at the time. Sherman Tanks began 
to be equipped with as many as five M3s to provide local security. Very few M3s made it to the 
Pacific Theater being mainly used by tank crews and Navy Beach Raiding Parties. France, 
Russia, and Chinese Nationalists also received several M3s as part of the Lend Lease program. 
By the end of 1944 343,372 M3s were delivered. 

Having taken note of the issues with the M3 in combat, several refinements were made to the M3 
such as adding a tab to the wire stock that would aid in loading rounds quickly in a magazine. 
One tube on the wire stock was threaded to accept a wire bore brush. The oiler that was a 
separate metal tube attached to the side of the M3 was replaced with an oiler that was 
incorporated into the pistol grip. A guard was added around the magazine release button to 
prevent accidental release. To fix the problem of the hand crank charging handle, which would 
often break, the bolt was redesigned to have a large hole machined into it that allowed for the 
operator to insert a finger to pull the bolt back. The stamped receiver was also modified with a 
slot in line with the ejection port to allow for the bolt to be pulled rearward with a finger. The 
rear sight was reinforced, and the dust cover was enlarged to cover the slot and changed to 
improve the safety feature to prevent slam fires. These changes were officially approved on 21 
December 1944, and incorporated into the M3A1. 

An Army Combat Observations Report dated February 5, 1945, detailed what small-unit leaders 
in the 99th Infantry Division thought of their new close-combat firearm: “The M3 Submachine 
Gun is the best weapon we use for patrolling. It can be put into action quickly, and at short 
ranges is accurate and powerful.” Staff Sergeant J. W. Logan, serving with Co. D, 101st Infantry 
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Regiment, 26th Infantry Division, went on to suggest that each “machine-gun squad leader 
should carry a submachine gun rather than the M1 rifle.” 

By the end of 1945 178,192 M3s and 15,469 M3A1s were delivered. Total production of M3s 
and M3A1s came to 622,163. After the war, M3s remaining in inventory were modified to meet 
the M3A1 specifications. 

With the outbreak of the Korean War, another contract for 70,000 M3A1s was awarded to Ithaca 
Gun Company. Ithaca also produced repair parts to keep existing stock in serviceable condition. 
Production did not begin until 1955 so production was cancelled after only 33,227 M3A1s had 
been manufactured. 

In 1957, the M3A1 was withdrawn from general service but continued to be used by armored 
vehicle crews and special forces units through Vietnam and Desert Storm.  

Of note, when Delta Force was formed in 1977, suppressed M3A1s were included in the units’ 
inventory due to the common use of .45 ACP with the M1911A1s and the compact size for close 
quarters combat. Delta Force used Suppressed M3A1s on Operation Eagle Claw in Iran in 1980. 

The M3 and M3A1 marked a shift in thinking for American arms designers, manufacturers, the 
Ordnance Department and Soldiers from finely crafted forged and milled steel and wood 
requiring highly skilled labor, time consuming processes, and exacting tolerances to pressed and 
stamped parts that could be assembled and spot welded in 1.4 minutes. The need for large 
quantities to be made quickly available at an affordable cost while still providing an accurate and 
reliable submachine gun drove many to look for solutions beyond what was considered accepted 
standards in small arms at the time. While America was not the lead in this transformational 
shift, it certainly produced in the M3A1 a rugged and reliable submachine gun that served in 
many parts of the world for 60 years and influenced the design and manufacturing of small arms 
for many decades. 
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M3A1 could be fired with the wire stock retracted as showed above or extended as shown below. 
To move the wire stock the operator only needs to push the button/locking pin in on the upper 
part of the pistol grip. 
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This appears to be an M3 that was converted to M3A1 at some point. One indicator is the serial 
number range the other is the guard around the magazine release is placed on the magazine well 
over the make and model stamp. 

 

The spring clip holds the screw on barrel nut in place. If this spring is damaged it is possible to 
fire enough rounds to cause the barrel nut to unscrew and fall off. Capt. Jan Patronek a Company 
Commander in the 101st in Vietnam described being on a patrol where they were ambushed. 
While laying down fire with a Grease Gun to cover the withdraw, he found his gun stopped 
functioning and the barrel laying on the berm in front of him. 
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Sticking out of the pistol grip is the screw on oil brush partially removed. Inside is a 
compartment where oil is stored. 
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With the dust cover in the closed position even with the bolt to the rear, the weapon was 
rendered safe. There was no other safety selector. The dust cover would not open or allow the 
weapon to fire at the press of the trigger. 

 

Once the dust cover was opened the operator could reach in and insert their finger into the hole 
in the bolt and pull it aft to lock the bolt to the rear. The Grease Gun would be ready to fire. (Bolt 
not shown) 
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The flash hider originally designated as T-34, was a prototype during World War II. it was put 
into production in the early 1950s and standardized as the Hider, Flash, M9. 

 

 

References: 

The Controversial M3 Grease Gun by Patrick J. Chaisson April 2021 

The M3 & M3A1 'Grease Guns' by Bruce N. Canfield, May 20, 2016 

FM 23-41 Submachine Guns, Caliber .45 M3 and M3A1, Headquarters, Department of the 
Army, June 1974 

FM 23-41 Basic Field Manual, Submachine Gun Caliber .45 M3, War Department, 20 October 
1943 
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WWII Ranges at Camp Robinson 

To prepare for combat, soldiers during World War II, trained with firearms at the 
ranges at Camp Robinson.  Marksmanship was an important element in a soldier’s 
training.  These photos show some of that training on Post. Ranges photos are 
from the  National Archives Collection.

LEFT: Photo shows the firing line 
of the first day of range firing by the 
66th Battalion, 14th Training 
Regiment. Camp Robinson, 
Arkansas. 

 February 23, 1942. 

RIGHT: The first day of firing 
on practice firing range No. 10 
by three-week old recruits in the 
66th Battalion, 14th Training 
Regiment. Despite the rain and 
mud, the men were willing to 
endure it to prime their 
marksmanship and speed up 
their training. Col. James P. 
Gomner is in charge. Camp 
Robinson, Arkansas. 

 February 23, 1942. 
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TOP LEFT: Soldiers of Co. B., 72nd 
Battalion, 5th Training Regiment, Camp 
Robinson, Arkansas, at rapid fire with .30 
caliber rifle. Scorers and telephone 
operators in foreground.  

March 27, 1942 

CENTER RIGHT: General view showing 
the waiting line and firing line with men 
firing and coaches instructing. Men of the 
B. Co., 63rd Battalion, 13th Regiment.
Camp Robinson, Arkansas.

March 5, 1942 

BOTTOM LEFT: At hunched position 
are Pvt. Willard R. Carstans, rifleman, 
being coached by Pvt. Francis J. 
Panlissan on range, Camp Robinson, 
Arkansas. Both are from Kankakee, Ill. 
And are of Co. D., 63rd Training 
Battalion.  

May 6, 1942 
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CENTER LEFT: Pvt. Wilber L. 
Porter, Mound City, Mo. Coached by 
Pvt. Charles W. Pevestorff, 
Higginsville, Mo., demonstrates the 
standing position, one of the four 
basic stances assigned by rifleman, 
Co. D. 63rd Battalion 13th Regiment.  

March 6, 1942 

TOP RIGHT: Members of Co. A, 55th 
Training Battalion, 12th Regiment at Camp 
Robinson, Arkansas, practicing 'triangulation' 
or shot group exercise.  

Left to Right: Pvt. Ralph F. Stone, 
Kankakee, Ill; John V. Roedier, Collinsville, 
Ill., Pvt. Thomas Velisarie, East Moline, Ill., 
Pvt. Constant J. Shipley, Chicago, Ill., and 
Sgt. Charles H. Parks, Klamath Falls, 
Oregon.  

March 5, 1942 

BOTTOM RIGHT: Photo 
shows the new auxiliary 
Antiaircraft range prepared by 
Plans and Training Section of 
the 14th Regiment, Branch 
Immaterial Replacement 
Training Center (BIRTC), 
Camp Joseph T. Robinson, 
Arkansas, under the supervision 
of Capt. J. J. Stovall, who is 
shown directing classes in 
protection against enemy 
aircraft.  

August 2, 1942 
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